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  My first body came, appropriately, in a bag.




  It was a green tartan canvas holdall less than two feet long, which might normally have carried a change of clothes, another pair of shoes, a spare shirt or two, a paperback book.

  Sandwiches.




  In every sense it was an ordinary bag. Nothing about it would have attracted attention. No one would have had reason to wonder what it contained.




  Murder, with its accompaniments of pain, anguish, sadness, fear and regret had, as usual, materialized in the most unassuming and commonplace manner.




  The bag had unmistakable dried brown bloodstains on the zip and the handle. It was being cradled in the strong arms of a burly detective called Joe Mounsey, the head of Lancashire CID.




  He’d telephoned me at Oldham Royal Infirmary and asked if I would meet him at Urmston Police Station, twelve miles away. I got in my old Jag and set off immediately.




  For reasons never fully explained, murder victims tend to be found in the middle of the night or at a time that interrupts lunch. This was a lunchtime case and, although it was long ago, in

  October 1968, I recall that the meal I missed was steak and chips. It was a Thursday and in those days the Infirmary canteen always served steak on Thursdays.




  I had just been appointed Home Office pathologist with responsibility for assisting police inquiries when foul play is suspected and this was my first call-out in that capacity. I was already a

  consultant pathologist, working daily at the hospital, so corpses were nothing new to me. But this one, my first with the police, was always going to be special, important.




  She was a seven-year-old schoolgirl.




  When I arrived at the station Detective Chief Superintendent Mounsey spoke with me briefly, explaining that there was a body in the bag and asking how I wanted to proceed. We took the bag,

  unopened, to the nearest mortuary at Park Hospital, Davyhulme. There we were greeted by a group of nervous-looking CID trainees whose boss had given them the unwelcome news that this was the day

  they were going to get around to viewing a murder-case autopsy.




  No one fainted, no one threw up and no one, apart from my assistant and I, said anything. For our own reasons we were all on edge. But the young officers all remained stoic, concentrating on

  controlling their stomachs while I tried to appear the calm, unruffled doctor used to all this and perfectly in command.




  As I opened the bag it was as quiet as the grave.




  The holdall sat, no doubt looking menacing to the trainees, on the mortuary slab, the shape inside pressing against the canvas but unrecognizable. Then I pulled gently but firmly at the zip. It

  clicked loudly as each metal tooth came undone.




  Christine Marsh was lying inside, curled up, her head facing away from the fastening and her back uppermost. As with so many dead children, her body gave the immediate

  impression of being simply asleep.




  No matter what logic tells you, no matter what you know for sure, the sight of a dead child is always more difficult to accept than the sight of a dead adult. There is that foolish, practically

  subconscious twinge of impossible hope that begs, ridiculously, Let her wake.




  Christine Marsh was fully dressed in a grey coat, grey dress, red jumper, underslip, vest and red knickers. The clothes had not been disturbed. She wore red stockings but no shoes. I found one

  shoe in the bag once I had lifted her out. She wore a gold chain and her blonde hair was in a ponytail.




  It is rarely useful or wise for a pathologist to consider how a person might have been while they were alive. Had this child once been bright-eyed, or coy and shy? Lively or quiet? Popular or

  difficult? Charming or devious? A loner or the leader of her young pack?




  I could answer none of these questions. In life the child had been unknown to me and in death I would learn only those things that would be of use to the detectives. To try to think of what she

  had once been might be a distraction, a confusion. I could not concentrate on what once had been, merely on what was in front of me now.




  I was not working on Christine Marsh, I was working on what had been left behind. My inquiries had nothing to do with the person people had known and my findings would be of no use to those who

  had laughed and played with her. Those who had loved her, who had shared her in life, would have little use for what I could tell them about her death. Mounsey, however, would.




  Christine Marsh had been hit five times on the head with a heavy object, probably a hammer. Three blows had left marks to the front and two others were obvious to the side.

  Her skull had suffered several fractures, causing brain damage. Apart from the head wounds she was a normal, healthy girl, so the cause of death was clear.




  Mounsey was satisfied. The bag had been found in a neighbour’s house, stuffed in a bedding box. The girl had apparently been talkative and inquisitive in life and had visited the neighbour

  while he was carrying out repairs to the bodywork of his car. She had asked one question too many – he had lost his temper, killed her with his panel- beater’s hammer and hidden her

  body.




  His eventual confession was believed because it matched the evidence provided by forensic scientists and by me. Blood samples collected at the autopsy matched those found on the hammer and in

  his car and his own description of the way he had attacked the little girl corresponded with my own findings.




  He got life.




  Since that day in 1968 1 have conducted autopsies in criminal investigations on 1,638 people, 104 of have been children. It is always the children who get to you. Every time, behind the cold,

  professional exterior, you can’t help but think: Oh no, not another child.




  Sooner or later I get to know something about the tragedy that surrounds each death. Sometimes the story is one of such misery that it cannot help but reach out to your innermost feelings and

  grip painfully. There have been several that, for various reasons, I still remember with genuine emotion rather than with just my analytical memory. There are others so horrible that I would love

  to be able to forget them.




  But the job is sufficiently complex and, I believe, important for me always to approach it with as much detachment and professional control as possible.




  The gruesome aspect is actually not too difficult to cope with – most of the time. Policemen, ambulance crews, firemen, everyone who works in medicine, all of them have to deal with death

  and injury. You cope because otherwise you can’t function. It is required.




  What happened in life to the child, the mother, the grandfather, the brothers and sisters before that life left them was never my concern. They came to me only after they had lost that force

  that caused their hearts to beat, their lungs to breathe, their brains to think; that caused them to live.




  I was there for the cause of death.
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  It would be useful before you read the following chapters for you to understand some principles of the post-mortem examination.




  It would be surprising if you were not somewhat wary of the dead. Most people are. So allow me to make you feel, if not more at home amongst them, then at least more at ease through being better

  informed.




  This book chronicles the story of my professional life over nearly forty years. During this time I spent many of my working hours performing autopsies on the recently – and, occasionally,

  not-so-recently – deceased.




  While each case is unique, the methods and procedures used to unlock the secrets of the dead tend to be quite similar. So, to avoid unnecessary repetition and to assist your understanding, I

  would like to outline here some of the detail of how a post-mortem is conducted.




  When crime was suspected, as it was in most of the cases in this book, my work usually began well away from the mortuary.




  Often in a suspicious-death inquiry the most crucial segment is the first – at the crime scene itself. In the old days, policemen’s boots too often trampled all around a body as

  detectives tried to look businesslike. But now, with forensic science capable of unearthing clues from the most apparently unpromising of situations, crime scenes are always

  sealed either immediately or at the earliest possible opportunity. I was one of the few people allowed past the blue tape.




  It may be several hours after a body’s discovery before it is moved. This is to ensure as far as possible the preservation of tell-tale signs that might later prove invaluable: it is

  sometimes simply necessary to wait until daylight to have a proper look. While this may seem to some to be less than dignified, the honest truth is that the dead don’t mind. In these

  circumstances, they are, after all, the people who matter most.




  The prime considerations for me at this stage are the position of the body and any piece or pieces of the body that may have become detached. This would include any body parts, body tissues or

  blood. Their distance from the body, their shape, the trajectory and direction of their separation are all important in assessing what has gone on.




  On one occasion, the police were almost apologetic about calling me out to what they considered was surely an accident where an elderly man had tripped on his landing at home, fallen and hit his

  head with fatal consequences. On my arrival I was able to inform them that a murder had indeed taken place because I recognized a blob of grey mess adhering to the base of a wall a few feet from

  the corpse as brain matter. You don’t get that kind of injury just by falling over.




  However, on another case I noted that there were red stains on a wall next to the body of the victim and asked for samples to be taken. Forensic examination revealed they had been caused by the

  spillage of a can of fizzy blackcurrant cordial. The stains played no further part in the investigation.




  The main evidence at this stage is photographic, backed up by meticulously made scale plans of the scene and diagrams of the body and any apparently relevant articles. All these tasks must be

  carried out with the body untouched and in situ.




  I take the temperature of the body and check the ambient temperature of where it was found – which might be in a house, in a field, by a roadside, anywhere. This helps in trying to

  establish the time of death.




  When everyone is satisfied that the initial parts of the inquiry have been completed, plastic bags are placed on the hands and over the head of the body and tied snugly. The whole body is

  wrapped in a plastic sheet and then placed in a body bag before being taken to the mortuary. The mortician there will always be alerted that a body is on its way but he will know no more until it

  arrives.




  The body is first weighed and measured and then, before the body, the plastic sheet is examined. I have known bullets to drop out of a corpse during the bumpy ride to the mortuary, so the sheet

  is there to catch such items rather than allow any evidence to vanish. Any object found on the sheet is bagged, sealed and marked with identification labelling.




  Similarly the bags on the hands and head of the body are removed and examined. The head, with its orifices and hair, and the hands, because of their natural function, are the most likely places

  where other bits of important material – sometimes very small – may be found. Also, at this stage, before any clothing is removed, samples of plucked and combed head-hair are taken,

  together with cuttings from the fingernails. The plucked hair includes the root, which can be used for DNA and drug analysis, while the combed hair and nails are checked for

  any fragments or residues that might prove useful.




  The clothed whole corpse is examined in great detail in an attempt to locate any foreign body such as paint, pieces of wood, grass, dust, soil – anything at all. We have no idea at this

  stage what we are looking for so everything is bagged, sealed and labelled.




  On one occasion a tiny smear of paint on the clothing of a road accident victim was later matched to a car, so providing good evidence that this was the vehicle responsible for the injuries that

  led to the individual’s death.




  In the past it was normal to take a sample of the aqueous humour from the eyes. The level of potassium found in this liquid rises in a straight line following death and proved quite an accurate

  measure of the time of death on many of my earlier autopsies. Later, however, it became a less popular procedure. Also it was a method that could not be used if there had been a serious head injury

  as the eyes were often damaged in such cases.




  The clothing is removed slowly, layer by layer, and again carefully examined with photographs taken if necessary at each stage. Holes, marks, discolourations, scrapes and tears in the material

  are noted, later to be compared with any wounds on the body.




  The naked body is then examined in great detail. Further hair samples are taken from the eyebrows and pubic area, while swabs are taken from the mouth, anus, genitalia and from any other

  exudates (apparent bodily fluids) that are discovered. While the swabs are being taken the relevant orifices are examined. Bruises and lacerations may be present in any or

  several of them.




  Every inch of the skin – including that covering the hands and feet — is carefully checked for any injury, bruise, scar or injection mark. One time I found pinprick marks on the feet

  of a male nurse who had been injecting himself there. This was important evidence that could easily have been missed.




  The hair surrounding any head injury is shaved. All wounds on the body are carefully measured, both in their extent and depth and also in relation to a fixed point on the body to provide as

  precise a position as possible. For instance, a stab wound to the chest could be described as being fifty-two inches from the ankle and three inches to the left of the midline. Accuracy can be

  critical in a courtroom situation.




  It is vital that no area of skin is missed and no assumptions made too early. One woman found dead in a fire had burns consistent with her having been killed in a blaze on the front of her body.

  But when we turned her over we discovered that she had been stabbed numerous times in the back.




  Further body-temperature readings are taken during this period and note is made of the degree of rigor mortis and body staining (due to the natural process of putrefaction). Again, all this

  assists with establishing a time of death.




  It is only after all that work has been completed that dissection can begin.




  My instruments are few but very sharp. They are made by a specialist firm in Whitechapel, London, coincidentally the hang-out in Queen Victoria’s time of the killer known as Jack the

  Ripper, undoubtedly the most famous exponent of the criminal usage of such surgical equipment.




  I can get by with a sharp scalpel, forceps, a pair of blunt-nose scissors, a pair of small coronary artery scissors, a brain-knife, a saw, a power saw, a ruler and

  probes.




  The brain-knife is a long-bladed knife so-called because it is used to cut the brain into slices or sections before it is microscopically examined. However, this knife can be used to cut up any

  organ. The saws are for the bones, the skull in particular. The blunt-ended scissors limit the risk of my slicing through something I shouldn’t while I am dissecting, especially when working

  in an area of densely compacted soft tissue such as the intestines.




  The initial incision is dictated to some extent by the position of any injuries. But in most cases, and certainly in all standard forensic examinations, a Y-shaped incision is made that begins

  with cuts behind each ear that descend at an approximate forty-five-degree angle along the neck, meet at the top of the chest and then descend vertically as one to the pelvis.




  Some practitioners, mostly in America, prefer to make their initial incision on a horizontal line across the top of the shoulders as it is less disfiguring. However, the Y shape allows a much

  better display of the larynx and makes the procedure of pulling back the skin of the face over the skull far less complicated. Consequently it is easier to demonstrate jaw fractures and other

  facial injuries.




  The essential requirements for effective dissection are good lighting and sharp knives. All the knives have to have disposable blades because they blunt quickly and require changing regularly.

  There is a lot of tough tissue in a body and, unlike a roast leg of lamb, it has not been softened by cooking. Not usually.




  The organs can be removed in blocks – it is sometimes easier to take out two or more in one go, the heart and lungs, for instance – but circumstances vary

  according to the situation.




  If there are bullet or knife wounds that need tracing, then X-rays must be taken. This is vital in the case of bullets as they can do strange things inside a body, depending on which tissues and

  bones they hit and their muzzle velocity. For example, the first shot that penetrated one of my earlier subjects, Christopher Downey, of whom you will read more later, entered a buttock and was

  deflected by part of the pelvic bone down to the marrow cavity of the thigh bone.




  During the internal examination, further examples of blood, urine, stomach contents and organs are taken for detailed forensic examination. Again, all are bagged, sealed and signed.




  For obvious reasons, my report was always prepared as quickly after the examination as possible.




  The work is, by its very nature, a long and sometimes rather messy procedure that offends all the senses, most significantly those of sight and smell. But I always felt that all the

  unpleasantness that others often brought to my attention was outweighed every time by the job’s sheer fascination.




  Now, if you will bear all that in mind, we will not need to waste time going through it all again.




  I would like to welcome you to my mortuary. And I shall begin.




  



  




  
1




  [image: ]




  The Devils in Disguise
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  By the time Pauline Reade came to my table she had been dead for twenty-four years.




  At the age of sixteen, on what had been a pleasant, fine July evening in 1963, she had persuaded her parents that she was quite capable, thank you very much, of walking to a local dance on her

  own.




  Her girlfriend, who would normally have walked with her, had opted to go to the local cinema instead. But it was Friday night, Pauline had a new pink-and-gold dance outfit to show off and,

  anyway, the dance was only 400 yards down the road.




  Like all decent mums and dads, Amos and Joan Reade were protective of their daughter and still saw her as a little girl, their little girl, their pride and joy. They would have preferred

  it if she’d been accompanied and they could have insisted, could have put their foot down. But the 1960s were in full swing and kids were rebelling. Flower Power bemused the older

  generations, rock and roll was here to stay and the post-war babies were becoming teenagers who were like no teenagers ever before.




  Luckily for Amos and Joan, their Pauline had her feet firmly on the ground and, as they say, she knew a thing or two. She wouldn’t do anything silly or take any daft risks. It was only her

  third visit to a ‘hop’ and she’d only ever come home late one time before, stepping sheepishly through the door at midnight. That time she had flung her arms

  around her mother who had been so worried and promised faithfully she’d never do it again.




  Pauline was a convent-educated girl who went to Mass every Sunday and she wouldn’t break her word. And, for goodness’ sake, she was nearly a woman.




  In truth, the result of the argument between the young lady and her doting folks was never much in doubt. Like a million other parents before and since, the Reades took another step towards the

  inevitable acceptance of their daughter’s disappearing childhood and told her: ‘OK, you can go. But be careful.’




  Jauntily, another moral victory under her belt, feeling quite the bee’s knees in her new ‘grown-up’ black blouse and gaily patterned skirt, Pauline began the five-minute

  journey from her small, neat, terraced home in Wiles Street, Gorton, Manchester, to the dance at the Railway Workers Social Club.




  She never made it.




  It was the year of the Profumo Affair, Harold Macmillan had just resigned as Prime Minister and John F. Kennedy was the charismatic, adored US President, five months short of his own terrible

  date with destiny. But, rightly, none of this would have been the concern of the likeable working-class lass who was a trainee confectioner at the local factory where her dad also worked. Her young

  head was full instead with thoughts of boys and The Twist, and as she walked she would have whistled the tunes from that week’s BBC Hit Parade, stepping in time to the rhythms in her head,

  her fingers clicking. Gerry and the Pacemakers were Number One with ‘I Like It’ and ‘It’s My Party’ by Lesley Gore was up there too. The

  Beatles’ latest was just ahead of Elvis Presley’s ‘Devil In Disguise’.




  Then, in the bright sunlight of an early evening in summer, as Pauline strolled along without a care in the world, someone spoke her name.




  A rather battered van had pulled up and, leaning out of the open driver’s window, a woman she knew reasonably well, the sister of a girl called Maureen who lived next door but one, called

  her over. It would not have occurred to Pauline that there was anything to worry about. There was no reason to check the street to see if there were other people around, no point in panicking that

  the street was deserted apart from her and this acquaintance beckoning her closer. No need to run.




  The trusting youngster would have smiled her naturally wide smile and walked towards the van to see what the woman wanted. Pauline liked to pass the time of day and chat.




  From behind the steering wheel, the driver, Myra, who looked older than her twenty years with her dyed blonde hair, put on her friendliest tone and made the younger girl an offer she

  couldn’t refuse. The persuasive, tempting lies dripped off her tongue like grease. It was like taking candy from a baby. Easy meat.




  Plausibly, she explained how she had lost an expensive pair of gloves and needed Pauline’s help to search for them. If the girl agreed, the woman offered, she’d reward her with pop

  records. A pile of discs was stacked invitingly on view in the back of the van.




  Now, nothing was going to stop Pauline going to the dance: she’d been looking forward to it too much. But it was only 7:30 in the evening and there’d be plenty of time to go

  looking for the gloves and then come back and still make a night of it. And some of the records looked great. As she climbed willingly into the passenger side, she probably

  thought: This is my lucky day!




  In subsequent interviews, Myra Hindley always insisted that Pauline didn’t give her any problems in the van, although Saddleworth Moor was a good thirty to forty minutes’ drive away.

  It would have been a reasonable assumption that, as they got further and further away from the dance hall, the younger girl would have become a little nervous, a touch suspicious, fearful, if

  nothing else, of missing out on her big night. But no, said Hindley, she was no trouble, no problem.




  They would have arrived at the desolate, empty moor shortly before 8.30 p.m., the summer evening light still good. Hindley stopped, applied the handbrake and got out, saying: ‘This is

  it.’ By the killer’s own account, even when they were joined a short time later by her boyfriend, Ian Brady, Pauline sensed nothing amiss. She went quietly onto the moor.




  Amos and Joan Reade never saw their daughter again, alive or dead. They neither needed nor wanted to see what was left when, in 1987, her body was finally exhumed from its makeshift tomb. They

  buried Pauline in consecrated ground at Gorton cemetery, relieved that after twenty-four years they could at last grieve and weep for their child and bury with her mortal remains any lingering

  false hopes that she would walk through their door and apologize for being late.




  We learned quite a lot about what happened to Pauline in the hours when she was at the mercy of the Moors Murderers, those last hours of her life. But the passage of so much time had removed too many of the clues, the tell-tales, the signs that we rely on in forensic medicine so that the full details of what she went through were beyond our skills to

  uncover. Perhaps it was as well.




  In November 1963, five months after Pauline’s death, twelve-year-old John Kilbride vanished. Seven months after that another twelve-year-old, a gap-toothed mite called Keith Bennett,

  disappeared without trace. On Boxing Day 1964 it was the turn of ten-year-old Lesley Ann Downey. Finally, Edward Evans, aged seventeen, was hacked to death at a house in Hattersley. A horrified

  witness to that carnage told police what had happened in a frantic, terrified phone call and Hindley and Brady, still in the house with the corpse, were arrested.




  A trail led detectives to the moor where they discovered the bodies of Lesley Ann Downey and John Kilbride. Soon ‘Moors Murderers’ became the most infamous phrase in British criminal

  history.




  Both of them were sentenced to life, Brady on all three counts, Hindley for the murders of Evans and Lesley Ann Downey, with a further seven years for harbouring her boyfriend after he had

  killed John Kilbride.




  It was twenty years later before there was any hard evidence to link Brady and Hindley to the disappearances of Pauline Reade and Keith Bennett. Then renewed Press speculation about a connection

  to ‘other murders’ led the then head of Greater Manchester CID, Chief Superintendent Peter Topping, to open the inquiry once more.




  I was one of the first people Topping told of his intentions since he would require my involvement if he discovered any human remains. At the time I thought he had no chance of finding anything

  and if he had sought my advice I would have told him not to bother. Today, despite the discovery of Pauline’s body, I am still not sure it was the right move.




  This was a case that had refused to go away for a number of reasons. It had undoubtedly been the most notorious murder trial ever conducted in this country. Sure, there have been people who have

  carried out killings of even greater savagery and there are individuals who have claimed far more victims than Brady and Hindley. But if you asked ten members of the public to name just one famous

  British murder, nine would choose The Moors Murders.




  Most of all, it was Myra’s involvement that fixed the horror in the minds of every parent in Britain. A woman had abducted children to kill them for pleasure. A woman! In the 1960s this

  was, as the tide of the famous book had it, beyond belief. This genuinely shocking realization did not just touch a nerve with the public at large, it wrenched it out by the roots.




  Then, of course, there was the tape. Hindley and Brady made the recording while they did what they did to little Lesley Ann who, in her photograph, looked as delicate and vulnerable as

  porcelain. Its playing in court at Chester Assizes, as she begged for mercy, was one of the most harrowing sounds – and the most damning evidence – ever heard in a courtroom.




  The toughest policemen who, until then, had thought they’d seen it all, went home and cried for hours. Experienced crime reporters who had been briefed and knew what was coming returned to

  their families badly shaken and hugged their own children until the kids asked them to stop. The general public was aghast.




  There was not the faintest doubt after the jury heard the tape that the pair would be convicted. From this point on, during a period when tabloid journalism became more and

  more lurid in this country, it was inevitable that every time a small piece of gossip about Hindley or Brady was aired it would make headlines. When either killer said or did anything, however

  inconsequential, it made the Press, and when high-profile figures, notably Lord Longford, tried to intervene on behalf of the pair, it was a front-page story.




  Although they were safely locked away, the Moors Murderers remained news. Another reason why news editors wouldn’t let the story go was that they, along with the police, were convinced

  that the evil pair had also claimed the lives of the two youngsters who had not been found on the moor but who had vanished in similar circumstances to Lesley Ann Downey and John Kilbride.




  Over the years there were occasional references, veiled suggestions and periodic hints in the papers that all had not yet been revealed. The couple were also a good target for such speculation

  because it was unlikely they would sue. How, after all, could Hindley and Brady claim that their good names were being blackened by Press innuendo or speculation?




  Also, although Brady, declared insane and enjoying solitude in the secure Ashworth Hospital, Merseyside, always said he did not want to be released, Hindley courted the media from Cookham Wood

  prison and apparently enjoyed the publicity.




  In the middle 1980s conjecture reached its zenith and Detective Chief Superintendent Topping decided the time was right to get involved. When he told me what he had planned I thought he was

  wrong, essentially since I thought he would fail. The moor is huge and children are small. It is possible for bodies to survive intact over a long period of time but

  this is quite rare. Of the bodies of the two children found quickly, Lesley Ann Downey’s, found in preserving peat, like Pauline’s, was in good condition, but little was left of that of

  John Kilbride, buried in a stream bed.




  The other point was that the murderers were already in prison and, due to the pressure of practically unanimous public opinion, were unlikely to be coming out. They were, in effect, doing time

  for all their crimes.




  The search, I thought, would kindle hope in the families of these long-dead youngsters that was unlikely to be realized. They had suffered so dreadfully over the years: would any new inquiry do

  much more than bring back all that pressure and sadness and remind them of their loss without providing anything substantial to fill the space? Would it, indeed, do more harm than good?




  In the event, Pauline’s family did go through fresh suffering. But they expressed their deep gratitude to Topping for providing finally the opportunity to pay their last respects to

  a loved one taken so abruptly from their midst. It seems that, to them, the recovery of their child’s body was worth the cost.




  Winnie Johnson, the mother of Keith Bennett, the twelve-year-old boy whose body was not found but is now also known with certainty to be a murder victim buried somewhere on the moor, has

  consistently praised the now-retired policeman for his efforts despite his eventual failure to locate her son’s remains. She still visits the moor regularly, occasionally with a shovel.




  Topping said in his autobiography that both Hindley and Brady had confessed to him, in the presence of lawyers, their parts in the two killings. Neither has since denied this allegation. The case, however, is not completely closed. There was a finding of ‘unlawful killing’ at the inquest into the death of Pauline Reade, but the hearing did not

  name the killers and the then Director of Public Prosecutions, Alan Green QC, decided it was not in the public interest for either of them to face further murder charges.




  I feel, despite this confirmation of the fate of the youngsters, that the merits of the investigation are still open to debate. Topping said that he agreed with Green’s decision not to

  prosecute. But, if a detective’s final goal is not a prosecution, what is it? If all his efforts do not result in the country being made a safer place, is he not taking upon himself the wrong

  task? He did well to discover what he did – it was in many ways a triumph – but was he tilting at windmills?




  A team of experienced (and expensive) detectives, including the most senior operational detective in Manchester (Topping himself), spent months wielding spades to solve crimes that, perhaps, did

  not really need solving. There was, for all practical purposes, no doubt in anyone’s mind what had befallen Pauline and Keith: they had died at the hands of Hindley and Brady.




  However, once Topping started, the pressure of publicity was so powerful that it would have been extremely difficult, even if he had wanted, for him to have called a halt. Having spent hours

  interviewing both Hindley and Brady he knew considerably more than he was telling and, bolstered by this secret insight, he took criticism on the chin, biding his time, giving little or nothing

  away.




  He was genuinely confident that what he had learned from them would lead him to his goal. However, particularly as the inquiry dragged on for weeks without any significant

  result, Topping’s insistence on keeping to himself the reasons why he was so confident led to much speculation about how the operation was being handled. This grated with a man so used to

  dealing with cold facts, but he steadfastly kept his own counsel.




  Hindley and Brady had both confessed to him their involvement in the murders of this boy and girl and had given him details of where the bodies were buried. In time, both killers visited the

  moor amid massive publicity to point out sites that they claimed could be the places where their victims lay. It is still unclear whether they were making genuine efforts to assist the search or

  were playing yet another morbid game, relishing the rekindled pain of the families and what was, up until then, the failure of the police.




  Their confessions were in the bag but Topping, the dour, dogged policeman, required some solid, definite proof to substantiate what they had told him. He was sure he was on the right track,

  close to at least one body, and was understandably annoyed at what he saw as the unwarranted rantings of an uninformed Press that was slowly turning against him.




  With impeccable timing, on the afternoon of Wednesday, 1 July 1987, in a week that the Manchester Evening News had dismissed the whole affair as a ‘farce’, he got his

  result.




  Topping was once more interviewing Brady at Ashworth when the spadework of his carefully chosen squad unearthed a white stiletto shoe in the peat of Hollin Brow Knoll, close to the border

  between Lancashire and Yorkshire. He was informed by mobile phone and took great delight in telling the man he was interrogating that there had been a major development. There can be little

  doubt that this was the most important moment in his professional life and he was going to enjoy his vindication.




  I got a call at the hospital that they’d found a body and was advised to make my way up after six p.m. when the scrum of reporters hanging about would have gone away. They were told that

  nothing significant had happened and the diggers got into their police cars and drove off, secretly leaving just one man behind to guard the site. The last thing Topping wanted was a media circus

  when his inquiry was at such a crucial stage. When I arrived, two reporters who had obviously been tipped off were waiting but I took them for police officers and asked where I should be heading.

  They said: ‘Over in that direction,’ pointing across a hill, and seemed quite calm about it all. I wasn’t.




  The grave was 250 yards from the main cross-Pennine route above Saddleworth. It was a clear evening, as it had been twenty-four years previously, almost to the day.




  Up there the ground undulates gently, rising and falling, with mile after mile of grassy fields rolling like a green sea. In early summer it can be attractive, but it never loses that eerie,

  bleak aura that conjures an inescapable feeling of dread. Not many people go to the moor at night. If the Moors Murderers had wanted to create a dramatic, menacing effect they chose their graveyard

  well.




  The road from Saddleworth winds slowly upwards, with large, old trees leaning over on either side. At first it is rather friendly and charming, with shafts of sunlight sparkling through the

  branches, the light flickering like a strobe as you drive. Then, with greater altitude, the woods slowly give way to the sparser moorland and, in the last mile or so before the top, there are no

  trees to block the panoramic view as the land dips towards farms before rising to a distant curve.




  The rough grass that stretches endlessly on either side of the road is marked with the tops of massive granite rocks that look as though they are striving to release

  themselves, to force their way to the surface. Enormous mounds of solid stone, all a deep, depressing grey, buried for millennia, captives of the moor.




  At the top, where the police cars were, I had to put on my heavy boots before marching out towards the cluster of men hidden from me on the other side of the rise. It was, I remember, a nice

  evening for a stroll.




  Up a hill, watching my step, moving carefully across a flat piece of ground, I could feel the peat shifting underfoot, shuddering each time I placed a boot down. It was like walking on the chest

  of a fat man breathing gently as he slept. I couldn’t help but wonder how on earth the police had managed to find anything in this desolate expanse.




  Pauline was still buried, lying in a small hollow, one foot and shoe protruding for all the world like a marker. All we could see was the shoe but none of us had the slightest doubt what lay

  before us here. Each man on the hill knew what this young girl used to look like and what clothes she had been wearing the last time she had kissed her mother goodbye. We knew what she used to be,

  all those years ago. The question was: What was left?




  From a forensic point of view she was in remarkable shape. She had spent a quarter of a century a few inches below the surface of a patch of land that was snowbound in winter, parched in summer,

  soaking in spring and wind-blown in autumn. Above ground this is among the harshest landscapes in Britain. Yet below, ironically, she had been protected by the peat that kept out the weather, the

  heat, the cold, the scavenging animals and, most importantly, the bacteria.




  The microbes only got the opportunity to begin their work when we got Pauline out of her makeshift tomb.




  It didn’t take long to clear the earth from around the body and we could see many things straight away. Not least was that this was indeed Pauline Reade. Her mother, her father, and her

  brother, Paul, could all quite easily have identified her if it had been necessary. I noticed later, when I saw Paul at the inquest, that there was a distinct family resemblance.




  The family members would have also noticed immediately, had they seen her, that her throat had been cut.




  Fortunately, they were spared the need to view what Pauline had become. They would always remember the vivacious teenager with the broad, easy grin, full of life, and not this sad, pitiful

  sight, tanned dark, a three-dimensional shadow of what she had once been.




  Usually at a death, the only feelings I allow myself are the unavoidable sadness and, just occasionally, a sense of revulsion. This time, though, I felt a surge of excitement as I realized we

  were about to try to resolve a secret that was of massive public interest.




  As the excavation continued and the peat was gently peeled aside, Pauline was revealed lying on her left side, facing the main road. Her head was slightly retracted and her left arm was folded

  across the front of her body with her hand on her right shoulder. Her right arm lay along her side.




  The thighs were extended and the knees were bent so that Pauline’s heels were tucked up close to her buttocks. The right shoe, the one that had led to the discovery, was in place but the

  other was resting on her thigh, clearly positioned there by the hand of her murderer before she was covered over with earth.




  Pauline was wearing a heavy woollen coat. The skirt and underslip were pulled up above her waist and we could see stockings with suspenders at mid-thigh but no knickers or

  suspender belt. She had been wearing a suspender belt the night she had vanished.




  As the body was moved gingerly on to a plastic sheet to wrap it up and take it to Oldham mortuary, the right hand, the wrist joint ruined by time, became detached. It was a sharp reminder that

  this might be a complex task.




  An hour later, with the body safely under lock and key, we went home and prepared for the following day.




  It had been agreed that, should a find be made, the post-mortem would be carried out by both myself, as the pathologist for the area, and Dr (now Professor) Mike Green, from Leeds University. He

  had worked with the original Moors inquiry pathology team, Professor Cyril John Poison and Dr David Gee.




  In a bizarre coincidence, the day after they had finished their examination of John Kilbride at Saddleworth mortuary in 1965, a heavy snowfall prevented the pathologist for the Huddersfield area

  getting to work. As the road was passable from the Manchester side, I was asked to cover for one of his jobs and travelled up to Saddleworth to confirm a heart-attack case.




  When I finished, the mortician wrote down in the ledger the date, 22 October, the name of the patient, the cause of death, and my own name. Immediately above it were the names of the other two

  Moors victims, Lesley Ann Downey’s examination dated 16 October and John Kilbride’s dated 21 October.




  Instead of describing their causes of death the mortician had written the stark single word ‘Murder’ in the ledger. It was clear that both children had died

  from violent means but the extensive decomposition of the bodies precluded the post-mortems from establishing the precise cause of death.




  I had never imagined that I would get any closer to the case than that juxtaposition of names. But at 1.45 p.m. on Thursday, 2 July 1987, Mike Green and I began the task of trying to work out

  how Pauline had come to lie dead with Lesley Ann and John.




  Bits of peat and soil that had stuck to the clothing were brushed away and the coat was carefully cut off with scissors. All the clothes were given to forensic expert Dr Karen Mashiter who did a

  remarkably good job of reconstructing the items and proving that they had belonged to Pauline.




  The removal of the coat revealed a handknitted cardigan that was also cut away, but we left the sleeves in place. They would act like a false skin to hold the tissue and bone structure of the

  arms together. The left hand became detached now and it was clear that although the body was in relatively remarkable shape there had been, as expected, major deterioration.




  Under the cardigan were a black blouse and lurex patterned skirt. A brassiere was fastened at the back, and a slip and nylon net petticoat were intact. The skin was tanned to the consistency of

  leather and began to crack at the joints of the knees, at the waist and the neck – essentially wherever the body bent. All this restricted the examination.




  Underneath the collar of the cardigan was a small section of gold chain, broken off from the rest of its length. There was a deep cut across the front of the throat and the coat collar, with its

  lining, had been pushed into the wound. Whatever force had done that had taken with it the rest of the chain, which we found inside.




  This was our initial investigation. But it was clear that the body was going to deteriorate further and decompose rapidly now that it was in the open air.




  Dr Green had made a number of inquiries among people who had worked on retrieved long-buried bodies. Only two years previously the 2,000-year-old body of a man had been uncovered in Wilmslow,

  Cheshire, and the experiences of the archaeologists and other scientists who had dealt with it proved very useful.




  Advice was also gleaned from experts who had worked on the project to raise Henry VIII’s flagship, the Mary Rose. The warship sank off Portsmouth in the sixteenth century and lay

  buried and preserved in mud for 447 years. When raised in 1982 a way of preserving its timbers with a chemical similar to antifreeze had been found.




  It was vital to prevent the body’s skin drying and cracking so it was placed in a brown metal casket containing a softening fluid similar to that used on the wood, polyethylene glycol PEG

  600 with added water and bicarbonate at pH8, slightly alkaline to reduce the natural acidity of the peat. A friend of Topping’s worked as head of security at Shell Chemicals at nearby

  Carrington and they kindly supplied a variation on antifreeze. Before we could do any more the body had to stay immersed, floating in the solution, for nearly a week.




  Every day outside the mortuary I was greeted by a posse of reporters, all wanting to know what was happening. I told them, truthfully, that absolutely nothing was happening, but I suspect a few

  didn’t believe me.




  On Wednesday, 8 July, we took the body out and placed it on the metal table once more. It was now possible to extend the legs and arms and realign the head and neck. Only

  the lower legs and knees had not been immersed and these were still hard but there was nothing of significance for us to look at there.




  Laid out straight for the first time, the body’s height was measured at a little under five feet five inches. It was clear now there were two parallel knife wounds to the neck, one very

  severe, three inches below the point of the chin, and a second, less deep, two inches below that. In addition there was a swelling on the forehead the diameter of a kitchen mug. Pauline had been

  hit hard on the head.




  Internal examination showed that one of the throat cuts had been delivered with such force that it severed the spinal cord. The angle of the cuts, horizontal rather than angled upwards to one

  side or another, suggested that they were not self-inflicted and had been carried out by another individual. Evidentially, this was important.




  The facial bones showed all the elements you would expect in a teenager. As people get older these bones knit together at a fairly specific rate. They showed that this was a girl of

  approximately Pauline’s age. That was hardly a surprise but it was another piece of recorded evidence to help the coroner, Bryan North, come to his conclusions. The teeth and jaw also

  confirmed her age.




  There was no other sign of injury we could detect and, such was the extent of the body’s deterioration, we were not able to investigate whether there had been any sexual assault.




  At the inquest our conclusions were stated as follows: ‘We are satisfied that this is the body of Pauline Reade. Although no positive medical or dental identification can be made, the

  clothing and personal possessions have been positively identified. The X-rays of the bones show epiphysial union consistent with an age of approximately sixteen years. Direct

  inspection of the sutures of the skull tends to support this estimate of age.




  ‘The appearance of the neck is consistent with homicidal cut throat. There are two separate incised wounds running horizontally across the midline, one four inches in length which gapes

  and one more superficial, two inches in length. There are no tentative incisions. They do not run upwards towards either ear and on the left side the upper incised wound almost completely divides

  the stemomastoid muscle and appears to involve the anterior surface of the cervical spine.




  ‘The swelling in the centre of the forehead appears to be a haematoma and is consistent with the application of blunt force, either with a fist or an instrument. There is no mark upon the

  skin to give any further assistance.




  ‘Post-mortem deterioration of the perineum and anus precludes any examination for sexual assault.




  ‘The general state of the preservation of the body is consistent with immersion in an acid peat bog for twenty to thirty years.




  ‘The pushing of the collar of the coat into the wound of the neck appears to have been deliberate rather than accidental during the burial of the body and could well have been carried out

  in an attempt to reduce the amount of bleeding.’




  Topping was pleased with our findings. They confirmed for him that what he had gleaned from Hindley and Brady about Pauline’s fate was basically the truth. Ironically, his finest hour was

  followed quickly by his leaving the police force. His efforts digging on the moor had exacerbated an old back injury and he retired almost immediately on the grounds of ill health.




  In the hours that Dr Green and I had been working on Pauline’s body, it was physically changing, degenerating, liquefying under our gaze as nature at last began to

  take its proper course.




  For twenty-four years so little had happened to Pauline as she lay in darkness, but now she was in the light, delivered from that confining grave. Now her truth was finally told and it seemed,

  somehow, that, as her body began its inevitable, overdue return to dust, her captured spirit was simultaneously set free.
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  A Savage Breeze
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  On a bright August morning a summer breeze fanned the flames of disaster and claimed the lives of fifty-five people in less than the time it would take to recite their

  names.




  Shortly before seven o’clock on that terrible day in 1985, six crew members and 131 passengers boarded a Corfu-bound holiday jet at Manchester Airport.




  The tourists, laden with duty-free purchases, some already in their shorts and T-shirts, a few boisterous, all excited, were looking forward to the best part of their year. The vast majority had

  got up in the middle of the night to get to Ringway for a five a.m. check-in, but the holiday adrenalin, mixed with the natural apprehension everyone has about flying, soon dispelled any

  cobwebs.
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